

Methodology for Multidimensional Poverty Measurement in Mexico An Executive Version

Consejo Nacional de Evaluación de la Política de Desarrollo Social

September 3, 2010

Methodology for Multidimensional Poverty Measurement in Mexico



Table of Contents

Introduction	3
The LGDS and the concept of poverty	3
Social rights and economic wellbeing	
The territorial context	
Methodology for multidimensional poverty measurement	5
Defining multidimensional poverty	5
Identifying population in poverty	5
Choosing the relevant dimensions	5
Identifying deprivations	6
Combining income and the social deprivation index	7
Aggregating poor people	9
Incidence of poverty	9
Depth of poverty	9
Intensity of poverty	10
Social cohesion	10
Criteria for defining poverty indicators	11
Measuring the wellbeing space	
Social deprivation indicators	12
Educational gap	
Access to health services	13
Access to social security	13
Quality and spaces of the dwelling	
Access to basic services in the dwelling	14
Access to food	15
Social cohesion	
Some final considerations	16
Bibliography	18



Introduction

The purpose of this document is to present the most relevant characteristics of the methodology adopted by the Consejo Nacional de Evaluación de la Política de Desarrollo Social (CONEVAL) to measure multidimensional poverty. The first section presents the regulations of the Ley General de Desarrollo Social (LGDS) regarding poverty measurement as well as some related concepts. The second describes the fundamental characteristics of the methodology for multidimensional poverty measurement, from the concept and definition of poverty, to the process of identifying poor people and aggregation of indicators. The third section provides general criteria for defining the indicators associated to the wellbeing space, social deprivation and the degree of social cohesion, whereas the last section presents some final considerations.

It is important to mention that this is an executive summary of the original, and larger, document, whose English version can be obtained at CONEVAL website. In Spanish, the multidimensional poverty methodology can be seen at the Diario Oficial de la Federación (DOF)¹ and at CONEVAL website.²

The LGDS and the concept of poverty

The LGDS stipulates that the guidelines and criteria issued by CONEVAL for defining, identifying and measuring poverty are mandatory to any Mexican institution that executes social development programs; that it must be estimated every two years for the states of Mexico and every five for the municipalities; that CONEVAL should use information generated by the Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía (INEGI), and that the measurement should include, at least, the following eight indicators: current per capita income; educational gap; access to health services; access to social security; quality and spaces of the dwelling; access to basic services in the dwelling; access to food, and the degree of social cohesion.

To fulfill these regulations, the multidimensional poverty measurement adopted by CONEVAL conceives poverty in terms of three analytical spaces: social rights, economic wellbeing and the territorial context where the population interacts.

¹ Diario Oficial de la Federación (Official Gazette of the Federation) at

http://www.dof.gob.mx/nota_detalle.php?codigo=5146940&fecha=16/06/2010 . Published on June 16th, 2010.

² <u>www.coneval.gob.mx</u>



Social rights and economic wellbeing

The approach of poverty supported on human rights is based on the recognition of human rights as "...the expression of the needs, values, interests and goods that, because of their urgency and importance, have been considered fundamental and common to all human beings" (Kurczyn and Gutiérrez, 2009: 3-4). All Mexicans should enjoy a set of rights deemed essential for human dignity; these rights are included either in the Constitution or have been signed and ratified by Mexico in several international conventions and pacts that protect them. According to these conventions, countries must create the mechanisms that will progressively allow full and universal access to human rights. Therefore, anybody that does not exercise at least one of her social rights is considered socially deprived.

On the other hand, the fundamental objective of the wellbeing approach is to identify the conditions that limit people's freedom to develop fully. This assumes that every person, given her circumstances and preferences, develops the set of capabilities that define the range of life options she may choose. If these options do not allow her to have acceptable living conditions within her society, the individual is considered deprived in the wellbeing space.

The territorial context

The LGDS, by incorporating social cohesion among the indicators for the measurement of poverty, recognizes the importance of contextual factors, which can only be measured at a territorial scale. Hence, it is necessary to complement the poverty measurement approach with the third analytical space, which will register the phenomena unfolding in the social interaction space, as is the case of social cohesion. However, given its relational nature, social cohesion is not considered as an intrinsic dimension of poverty at the individual or household level.



Methodology for multidimensional poverty measurement

Defining multidimensional poverty

Deprivation in any of the spaces imposes a series of specific limitations that violate the freedom and dignity of people, but simultaneous deprivation in both spaces (social rights and economic wellbeing) considerably worsens their situation. Being constitutional rights, any social deprivation should be considered of primary concern; however, for public policies purposes, priority should be given to socially deprived people who also have low income. This is the rationale for the following definition of multidimensional poverty:

A person is considered to be multidimensional poor when the exercise of at least one of her social rights is not guaranteed and if she also has an income that is insufficient to buy the goods and services required to fully satisfy her needs.

Identifying population in poverty

According to Sen (1976), any poverty measurement methodology should address two problems: the identification of poor people and the aggregation of poor people into a summary measure. According to CONEVAL's methodology, these problems are solved in three stages. The first identifies if a person is socially deprived, that is, if she is deprived in any of the following six indicators: educational gap, access to health services, access to social security, quality and spaces of the dwelling, access to basic services in the dwelling and access to food. In the second stage we identify whether or not that person's income is sufficient to satisfy her needs. Finally, a person is identified as multidimensional poor if she is socially deprived and has insufficient income.

Choosing the relevant dimensions

The methodology includes all the constitutive dimensions of poverty the law makers pointed out in article 36 of the LGDS, except for social cohesion, as we explained above. In order to identify the



population in poverty, and according to the conceptual framework, these dimensions are divided into two spaces:

- The social rights space includes food, health, education, social security and housing, which are measured through the six indicators of deprivation.
- The economic wellbeing space, which is measured by the indicator of current per capita income that is compared with a poverty line that defines a minimum amount of monetary resources required to satisfy people's basic needs.

Identifying deprivations

In order to identify the population deprived in terms of each indicator, some criteria were adopted that are appropriate to each space. The *economic wellbeing space* identifies the population with an income insufficient to acquire the goods and services required to satisfy its needs. The *social rights space* identifies the population with at least one social deprivation in the indicators associated with this space. The number of social deprivations of a particular person is called the social deprivation index.

The current income of the household has been adjusted so as to reflect the differences in the household's composition (according to its size, the age of the members and other characteristics). In order to identify the population with insufficient income, the wellbeing threshold and the minimum wellbeing threshold have been established. The wellbeing threshold makes it possible to identify the population that does not have sufficient resources to acquire the necessary goods and services to satisfy its needs (food and non-food). The minimum wellbeing threshold makes it possible to identify the population that, even when using all of its income to purchase food, cannot acquire enough of it to ensure adequate nutrition.

On the other hand, there are two steps to identify deprivation in the space of social rights:

- 1. *Identification of deprivation for specific indicators*. For each of the six social indicators a dichotomous variable is generated that makes it possible to determine whether a person is deprived in the corresponding dimension. These indicators take the value one when an individual is deprived, and zero otherwise.
- Social deprivation index. This index is constructed for each person as the sum of the six indicators associated with social deprivation. According to the suggestions made by Gordon (2007), CONEVAL will carry out statistical procedures to verify that the social deprivation index is valid, reliable and additive.



As mentioned above, since we are talking of human rights, a person is socially deprived when the value of the social deprivation index is greater than zero, that is to say, when she is deprived in at least one of the six indicators. This cutoff point (C=1) is called the *deprivation threshold*.

There is also an *extreme deprivation threshold* (C^*), which makes it possible to identify the population living in *extreme multidimensional poverty*. The Executive Commission of CONEVAL decided to determine the value of C^* as three, which means that the person suffers from at least half the total deprivations she might have.

Combining income and the social deprivation index

According to the definition of multidimensional poverty, it is necessary to consider simultaneously both spaces in order to identify the multidimensional poor population. To do so, the classification method illustrated in Figure 1 is used.



The vertical axis of Figure 1 represents the space of economic wellbeing, which is measured by people's income. The wellbeing threshold makes it possible to differentiate whether or not people have sufficient income.



The horizontal axis represents the space of social rights, measured through the social deprivation index. Unlike the usual presentation in Cartesian graphs, the population located to the left of this axis shows more deprivations than those to the right. Likewise, given that people who show at least one social deprivation are considered socially deprived, the value of the deprivation threshold is one.

According to this figure, once her income and social deprivation index are determined, any person may be classified in one, and only one, of the following quadrants:

- I. *Multidimensional poor*. People with an income below the wellbeing threshold and with one or more social deprivations.
- II. *Vulnerable due to social deprivation*. Socially deprived people with an income higher than the wellbeing threshold.
- III. *Vulnerable due to income*. Population with no social deprivations and with an income below the wellbeing threshold.
- IV. Not multidimensional poor and not vulnerable. Population with an income higher than the wellbeing threshold and with no social deprivations.

Among the multidimensional poor, it is possible to identify the population in extreme multidimensional poverty by combining the minimum wellbeing threshold and the extreme deprivation threshold ($C^*=3$), as shown in Figure 2.





This figure locates in quadrant I of Figure 1 the subset of multidimensional poor people who define quadrant I". This subquadrant represents the population living in *extreme multidimensional poverty*, since they have an income that is so low that, even if spent entirely on food, they could not buy the necessary nutrients for a healthy life; additionally, they exhibit at least three of the six social deprivations. The population in multidimensional poverty that is not extreme multidimensional poor represents the population in *moderate multidimensional poverty*.

Aggregating poor people

Incidence of poverty

The headcount ratio of multidimensional poverty refers to the percentage of the total population, or from a specific population group, that exhibits some sort of economic or social deprivation. It fulfills the following three characteristics:

- first, it enables determining the percentage of the population in poverty and the number of people in that condition;
- second, it is a well known poverty measure that is easily interpretable;
- third, it makes it possible to decompose national poverty so that the contribution of states and municipalities in determining it can be shown.

Depth of poverty

Two types of measures of depth of poverty are reported: one having to do with the wellbeing space and the other directly related to the social deprivation index. With respect to the wellbeing space, CONEVAL adopted the measure developed by Foster, Greer and Thorbecke (1984). It provides a measure of the depth of poverty that is given by the average distance from the income of the population with an income under the wellbeing threshold, to that threshold.

As for the social deprivation index, the depth of the deprivation is reported through the average number and proportion of social deprivations. This indicator is calculated for the four following groups:



the population in multidimensional poverty; the population in extreme multidimensional poverty; the population with an income above the wellbeing threshold and that is socially deprived, and the population group that is socially deprived.

Intensity of poverty

Alkire and Foster (2007) proposed an aggregated multidimensional poverty index to sort out the limitations of incidence measures. The index is calculated as the product of the headcount ratio and the average proportion of social deprivations among the multidimensional poor. It can be shown that these indexes are sensitive to changes in social deprivation among the multidimensional poor, which make them decomposable by dimension. CONEVAL will estimate three measures of intensity of poverty:

- 1. *Intensity of multidimensional poverty*. The headcount ratio times the average proportion of social deprivations among the population in multidimensional poverty.
- 2. Intensity of extreme multidimensional poverty. The product of the headcount ratio and the average proportion of social deprivations among the extreme multidimensional poor.
- 3. *Intensity of deprivation among the socially deprived*. The product of the headcount ratio and the average proportion of social deprivations among the population that is socially deprived.

Social cohesion

Since social cohesion is the only indicator associated with the territorial context included in article 36 of the LGDS, measurement of this space will be carried out through the following four indicators of social cohesion: 1) the Gini Index; 2) the degree of social polarization in states or municipalities; 3) the ratio of total income among the population in extreme multidimensional poverty and the population group that is not multidimensional poor nor vulnerable, 4) the social networks perception index, which will only be calculated at the state level.



Criteria for defining poverty indicators³

Measuring the wellbeing space

The measurement of the wellbeing space is based on the following components: the wellbeing thresholds, built up from the market baskets, and the income of the households.

On one hand, two basic baskets were defined, one for food and one for non-foods. Both allow to make calculations at the urban and rural level. Based on these basic baskets, the wellbeing threshold (equal to the sum of the costs of both the food and non-food baskets) and the minimum wellbeing threshold (equal to the cost of the food basket only) are determined.

On the other hand, for the definition of income to use, and according to the Canberra Group (2001) and the International Labour Organization (ILO) (2003), total current income is comprised of the sum of payments made to members of the household, including monetary and non-monetary resources, and incorporating labor income, income from self-owned businesses, capital gains, transfers, income from cooperatives, the value assigned to auto-consumption, in-kind payments or gifts and an estimation of the imputed rent for the dwelling.

The definition of income was adjusted in order to adequately reflect the resources available to households to satisfy their needs. In the first place, only payments and in-kind gifts received more than once a year will be considered, given the randomness and frequency with which they occur. Moreover, given that imputed rent is not fungible and so households cannot make use of it to satisfy needs, this item was excluded from the definition of income. Likewise, in order to compare the income levels of households with different demographic compositions, current income is adjusted by adult equivalent scales, as well as for economies of scale. The above mentioned criteria make it possible to identify those households whose adjusted total per capita current income is lower than the value of the wellbeing threshold or the value of the minimum wellbeing threshold.

³ For more specific details about the construction of indicators and the formulas see the extended version of this document, specifically the appendixes. Available at www.coneval.gob.mx



Social deprivation indicators

One fundamental component in defining social deprivation indicators consists in setting the thresholds that determine whether a person is deprived in any specific dimension. For that reason, specific methodological criteria were established; they are as follows:

- 1. Apply legal norms, if they exist.
- 2. Apply specific criteria defined by experts of specialized public institutions in the field of each deprivation indicator.
- 3. Apply criteria based on statistical analysis.
- 4. The Executive Committee of CONEVAL shall determine the threshold, after taking into consideration the opinion of experts.

Since the six social deprivation indicators are dichotomic, they take the value one when a person shows an specific deprivation and zero otherwise.

Educational gap

In order to define the threshold for this dimension, CONEVAL consulted the Instituto Nacional para la Evaluación de la Educación (INEE), the agency in charge of evaluating education in Mexico. INEE proposed CONEVAL to use the Norma de Escolaridad Obligatoria del Estado Mexicano (NEOEM), according to which the population meeting any of the following criteria are considered educationally deprived:

- For people aged three to fifteen years old. When they lack mandatory basic education and are not attending a formal educational center.
- For people born before 1982. If they do not meet the minimum mandatory basic education level that prevailed at the time they should have attended elementary school.
- For people born from 1982 onwards. If they have not completed the minimum current mandatory basic education requirement (secondary school).



Access to health services

The Constitution establishes that all Mexicans have the right to the protection of their health. In terms of the Ley General de Salud (LGS), this Constitutional norm addresses the right for everybody to be enrolled in the Sistema Nacional de Protección en Salud. Thus, any family or individual who is not covered by a social security institute, or that does not have any other mechanism of health protection, should be enrolled in this system. On the basis of these regulations, a person is considered to be deprived of access to health services when she is not enrolled in or entitled to receive medical services from any institution offering them, including the Seguro Popular, from any social security public institute or from private medical services.

Access to social security

In Mexico, social security is established in Article 123 of the Constitution. That article specifies the minimum social coverage that must be granted to any worker and his family. The Ley del Seguro Social (LSS) stipulates that the goal of social security is to guarantee the right to health care, medical assistance, protection of subsistence means and those social services needed for individual and collective wellbeing.

This law establishes two ways of accessing social security: one mandatory and a venue which allows for voluntary enrollment. Based on these considerations, the population deprived of access to social security is defined using the following criteria:⁴

- For those who are economically active, it is considered that they are not deprived in this dimension if, through their job, they enjoy the benefits established in the law.
- For non paid workers and for workers on their own, given the voluntary nature of enrollment in the system, they are considered to have access to social security when they receive medical services as a job benefit or when they are actually voluntarily enrolled and when, in addition, they bear a retirement investment plan.
- For the general population, people are considered to have access when they benefit from a retirement program or pension or when one of their relatives has access to social security.

⁴ In contrast to other dimensions, in which the population suffering a deprivation is identified, given the various sources of access to social security contemplated in the legislation, this indicator will register the population not exhibiting deprivation to simplify the exposition of the criteria.

- Consejo Nacional de Evaluación de la Política de Desarrollo Social
 - In the case of people in retirement ages (sixty five years or older), people are considered to have access to social security if they benefit from a social pension program for senior citizens.
 - The population not meeting any of the above criteria is considered deprived due to access to social security.

Quality and spaces of the dwelling

Article 4 of the Constitution establishes the right of all families to live in a suitable dwelling. However, the specifications for the minimum requirements of a suitable and proper house are not defined in either the Constitution or the Ley de Vivienda. Therefore, CONEVAL requested the Comisión Nacional de Vivienda (CONAVI) for an opinion regarding this issue. CONAVI suggested that there is deprivation due to lack of quality and spaces of the dwelling if one or more of the following criteria hold:

- If the dwelling has dirt floor.
- If the roof of the dwelling is made of cardboard sheets or waste.
- If the walls of the dwelling are made of mud or daub and wattle; reed, bamboo or palm tree; cardboard, metal or asbestos sheets; or waste.
- The ratio of people per room is greater than 2.5 (overcrowding).

Access to basic services in the dwelling

As to this indicator, CONAVI proposed to identify the following four sub-dimensions: access to drinking water, availability of drainage services, electricity and type of fuel for cooking. According to these criteria people living in dwellings with at least one of the following characteristics are considered to be deprived of basic services in the dwelling:

- Water is obtained from a well, river, lake, stream, or truck; or, piped water is carried from another dwelling or gotten at a public faucet or hydrant.
- There is no drainage service, or the drainage is connected to pipes leading to a river, lake, sea, ravine or crack.
- There is no electricity.
- Wood or coal with no chimney are used for cooking or heating food inside the dwelling.



Access to food

In order to provide a measure to evaluate the progress made towards fulfilling the right to food, the metodology incorporates the concept of food security. According to FAO (2006), food security includes the access to enough food to live an active and healthy life at any time. Food security scales evaluate aspects such as worrying over lack of food, changes in the quality or quantity of food, or even hunger experiences. The scale recognizes four possible levels of food insecurity: severe food insecurity, moderate food insecurity, mild food insecurity and food security. For poverty measurement purposes, CONEVAL considers that a person is deprived due to lack of access to food when she presents moderate or severe food insecurity.

Social cohesion

Given the complexity of concepts associated with social cohesion, several alternatives were explored during the process of defining the methodology. Based on these alternatives, CONEVAL established that a suitable and measurable indicator of social cohesion can be built from data on income inequality or social breadths. If it is recognized that inequality can be manifested in various spheres of social life, the greater social disparities in education, housing, health care or food are, the more polarization exists, which, in turn, would tend to reinforce poverty.

Given the diversity of concepts and approximations involved in this dimension, it was decided to rely on the proposal made by Boltvinik (2007) for measuring the degree of social cohesion in the territorial space. Accordingly, social cohesion will be measured at the municipal and state levels through four indicators: 1) economic inequality (the Gini coefficient); 2) the proportion of income of the population living in extreme multidimensional poverty relative to the income of the population not living in multidimensional poverty and not vulnerable; 3) social polarization, and 4) social networks.



Some final considerations

Mexico is the first country whose normative framework created the legal basis for adopting a poverty measurement that recognizes its multidimensional nature. Therefore, the methodology for poverty measurement presented in this document has been developed based on the stipulations of the legal framework of the Mexican State, especially the LGDS.

By assigning to CONEVAL the task of evaluating social policies and programs and defining the criteria for poverty measurement, the LGDS establishes poverty measurement as a fundamental element of social development evaluation.

The multidimensional poverty measurement adopted by CONEVAL conceives poverty in terms of three spaces: social rights, economic wellbeing and the territorial context. A society that, through its laws, recognizes the existence of a social contract that aims to guarantee its entire population access to social and human development, reinforces its political commitment to achieve the goal that social rights and wellbeing, both associated with the universal and inalienable principles of human dignity and individual freedom, may become actual living conditions and that they are not mere social aspirations. The methodology presented here aims to make a contribution towards this goal.

By combining the three spaces in the official measurement of poverty, CONEVAL provides a powerful tool for evaluating social policy. The wellbeing space, measured through household income, offers a framework for the analysis of the central role economic policy plays in determining the population's standard of living.

The social rights space provides a useful tool for analyzing actual achievements and remaining challenges towards fully exercising social rights, especially on those aspects that the LGDS establishes as constitutive of poverty. The adoption of this approach makes it possible to evaluate the progress of social policies and programs, for the population as a whole and, especially, for the poor or deprived people.

Taking into consideration the territorial context space in poverty measurement makes it possible to analyze the effect of the phenomena and problems of communities and localities on the range of life options individuals have. This feature allows examining the relationships between poverty and mechanisms of social inclusion, as well as seeking sustainable social development. Likewise, given that information will become available at the state and municipal scales, it will be possible to identify and monitor regional gaps in social development over time.



This framework leads to the recognition and identification of population groups with needs that are not only specific, but also heterogeneous and of varying magnitudes. So, the deprivation indicators can be calculated for different population groups; in addition, they can be compared across time and they provide a technically rigorous, but flexible scheme, to fit the specific targets of different social development programs.

It is important to emphasize the commitment of the Mexican State to ensuring universal exercise of social rights. That is why the identification of people presenting one or more social deprivations is an especially important element of this methodology. Nonetheless, in order to guide public policy, it is also necessary to recognize that deprivations and needs are different for different groups and that, some individuals, families, population groups and regions require immediate, timely and efficient attention, due to their very low income and the large number of deprivations they present.

This methodology should be understood as a first step in the analysis of social gaps in Mexico; we should mention that data limitations lead to some challenges that should still be worked out. Even though for poverty measurement purposes CONEVAL has incorporated all the indicators specified in article 36 of the LGDS, the complexity of the problem of social development demands to deepen the analysis of each dimension, incorporating aspects such as the quality of services, as well as other aspects that have a direct influence on the quality of life of the population, like discrimination or access to social infrastructure.

CONEVAL should also promote the collection of more and better information about the various elements that make it possible to evaluate social policy, not only at a state and municipal scale, but also at the local one, in order to provide decision makers with the elements needed to design results oriented public policies.

This points to the necessity that CONEVAL continues working on the development of a National System of Social Indicators that goes beyond poverty indicators and that includes the whole set of social rights in its broadest sense. This would make it possible to enhance CONEVAL recommendations with regards to social policy.





Alkire, Sabina (2002), "Dimensions of Human Development", World Development, vol.30, no. 2, pp.181-205.

Alkire, Sabina and James Foster (2007), "Counting and Multidimensional Poverty Measurement", OPHI Working Paper Series, Oxford Poverty & Human Development Initiative (OPHI), Oxford, (OPHI Working Paper, 7), available: <u>http://www.ophi.org.uk/pubs/Alkire Foster CountingMultidimensionalPoverty.pdf</u>(June 18, 2008).

Alkire, Sabina and James Foster (2009), "Memo to CONEVAL", mimeo.

- Anzaldo, Carlos and Jessica Bautista (2005), "Precariedad del hábitat en las ciudades de México", in Elena Zúñiga (coord.), México ante los desafíos del milenio, Mexico, CONAPO, pp. 417-451.
- Atkinson, Anthony and Francois Bourguignon (eds.) (2000), Handbook of Income Distribution. Volume I (Handbooks in Economics), North Holland, Elsevier.
- Attanasio, Orazio and Miguel Székely (1999), "La Pobreza en América Latina: Un Análisis Basado en los Activos", *El Trimestre Económico*, No. 263, vol. 66, no. 3.
- Attanasio, Orazio and Miguel Székely (eds.)(2001), Portrait of the Poor: An Assets-Based Approach, Washington, D.C., Inter-American Development Bank.
- Becaria, Luis and Alberto Minujin (1988), *Métodos alternativos para medir la evolución del tamaño de la pobreza*, Buenos Aires, INDEC, (Working Paper, 6).
- Bickel, Gary et al. (2000), Guide to Measuring Household Food Security, Alexandria, USDA/Food and Nutrition Service/Office of Analysis, Nutrition, and Evaluation.
- Boltvinik, Julio (2007), "Multidimensional Poverty Measurement. A Methodological Proposal for Mexico According to the Requirements Defined in the Law for Social Development (LGDS)", mimeo.
- Bourguignon, Francois and Satya Chakravarty (2003), "The Measurement of Multidimensional Poverty", *Journal of Economic Inequality*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp.25-49.
- Canberra Group (2001), Final Report and Recommendations, Ottawa.
- Chakravarty, Satya (2007), "Multidimensional Poverty Measurement Methodology for Mexico", mimeo.
- Committe for Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR) (2001), Substantive Issues Arising in the Implementation of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights: Poverty and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, Geneva, UN, available: http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cescr/docs/statements/E.C.12.2001.10Poverty-2001.pdf (June 18, 2007).
- Comité Técnico para la Medición de la Pobreza (Technical Committee for Poverty Measurement CTMP) (2002), Medición de la Pobreza: variantes metodológicas y estimación preliminar, Mexico, SEDESOL, (Research Papers, 1).
- Consejo Nacional de Población (National Population Council CONAPO) (2006), Índices de marginación 2005, Mexico, CONAPO.
- Cortés, Fernando, Enrique Hernández and Minor Mora (2004), *Elaboración de una canasta alimentaria para México*, Mexico, SEDESOL, (Research Papers, 18).

De Ferranti, David et al. (2004), Inequality in Latin America. Breaking with History?, Washington, D.C, The World Bank.

De la Torre, Rodolfo (2005), Ingreso y gasto en la medición de la pobreza, Mexico, SEDESOL, (Research Papers, 22).



Department for Works and Pensions (DWP) (2003), *Measuring Child Poverty*, London, available: <u>http://www.dwp.gov.uk/docs/final-conclusions.pdf</u> (April 16, 2008).

- Despouy, Léandro (1996), Rapport final sur les droits de l'Homme et l'extrême pauvreté, Rappourteur de la sous commission de la lutte contre les mesures discriminatoires et de la protection des minorités du Conseil Économique et Social de l'ONU, Quarantehuitième session (UN Document, E/EC.4/Sub.2/1996/13. June 28, 1996).
- Diario Oficial de la Federación (Official Gazette of the Federation) (May 29, 2000), *Ley para la Protección de los Derechos de Niñas, Niños y Adolescentes* (Law to Protect the Rights of Girls, Boys and Adolescents), Mexico, available: http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/doc/185.doc (June 18, 2008).
- Diario Oficial de la Federación (January 20, 2004), *Ley General de Desarrollo Social* (General Social Development Law), Mexico, available: <u>http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/pdf/264.pdf</u> (March 20, 2007).
- Diario Oficial de la Federación (January 17, 2006), *Ley Federal del Trabajo* (Federal Labor Law), Mexico, available: <u>http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/pdf/125.pdf</u> (July 27, 2007).
- Diario Oficial de la Federación (January 18, 2006), *Reglamento de la Ley General de Desarrollo Social* (Regulations for the General Social Development Law), Mexico, available: <u>http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/regley/Reg_LGDS.pdf</u> (July 30, 2007).
- Diario Oficial de la Federación (June 27, 2006), *Ley de Vivienda* (Housing Law), Mexico, available: <u>http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/doc/LViv.doc</u> (June 18, 2008).
- Diario Oficial de la Federación (August 11, 2006), *Ley del Seguro Social* (Social Security Law), Mexico, available: <u>http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/pdf/92.pdf</u> (March 2, 2007).
- Diario Oficial de la Federación (January 2, 2007), *Ley General de Educación* (General Education Law), Mexico, available: <u>http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/doc/137.doc</u> (June 18, 2008).
- Diario Oficial de la Federación (June 19, 2007), *Ley General de Salud* (General Health Law), Mexico, available: <u>http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/pdf/142.pdf</u> (July 18, 2007).
- Diario Oficial de la Federación (August 2, 2007), Constitución Política de los Estados Unidos Mexicanos (Political Constitution of Mexico), Mexico, available: <u>http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/doc/1.doc</u> (July 27, 2007).
- Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) (2006), Shaping the Future of Social Protection: Access, Financing and Solidarity, Santiago de Chile, ECLAC.
- Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) (2007a), Social Cohesion. Inclusion and a Sense of Belonging in Latin America and the Caribbean, Santiago de Chile, ECLAC.
- Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) (2007b), *Principios y aplicación de las nuevas necesidades de energía según el Comité de Expertos FAO/OMS 2004*, Santiago de Chile, ECLAC, (Estudios Estadísticos y Prospectivos, 56).
- Feres, Juan and Xavier Mancero (2000), "El método de las necesidades básicas insatisfechas (NBI) y sus aplicaciones en América Latina", in *Taller 5: La medición de la pobreza: métodos y aplicaciones*, Programa para el mejoramiento de las encuestas y la medición de las condiciones de vida en América Latina y el Caribe (MECOVI), ECLAC.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) (2006), "Food security", FAO's Agriculture and Development Economics Division (ESA), (Policy Brief, 2).

Foster, James (2007), "Report on Multidimensional Poverty Measurement", mimeo.

Foster, James, Joel Greer and Erik Thorbecke (1984), "A Class of Decomposable Poverty Measures", *Econometrica*, vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 761-766.





Gordon, David (2007), "Multidimensional Poverty Measurement Methodology for Mexico", mimeo.

- Hamilton, William et al. (1997), Household Food Security in the United States in 1995. Summary Report of the Food Security Measurement Project, Alexandria, USDA/Food and Nutrition Service/Office of Analysis, Nutrition, and Evaluation.
- Hernández, Enrique *et al.* (2009), "Análisis y Estimaciones de Patrones y Canastas Regionales de Consumo. Informe Final Corregido", mimeo.

Hernández, Rubén and Humberto Soto (2007), "Multidimensional Poverty Measurement Methodology for Mexico", mimeo.

- Instituto Nacional de Ciencias Médicas y Nutrición "Salvador Zubirán" ("Salvador Zubirán" National Institute of Medical Sciences and Nutrition INNSZ) (2002), *Composición de alimentos mexicanos*, Departamento de Ciencia y Tecnología de Alimentos (Department of Food Science and Technology), compact disc.
- Instituto Nacional de Estadística, Geografía e Informática (National Institute of Statistics, Geography and Informatics INEGI) and the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC). (1993), *Magnitud y Evolución de la Pobreza en México* 1984-1992. Informe metodológico, Mexico, INEGI-ECLAC.
- Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) (2005), Social Cohesion in Latin America and the Caribbean. Analysis, Action and Coordination, Washington, D.C., available: http://enet.iadb.org/idbdocswebservices/idbdocsInternet/IADBPublicDoc.aspx?docnum=733597 (May 24, 2007).
- International Labour Organization (ILO) (2003), *Report II Household Income and expenditure Statistics*, Geneva, International Labour Office -UN, available: <u>http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---integration/---</u> <u>stat/documents/meetingdocument/wcms_087588.pdf</u> (May 24, 2007).
- Jahan, Selim (2002), Human Rights-Based Approach to Poverty Reduction–Analytical Linkages, Practical Work and UNPD, UNDP.

Kakwani, Nanak and Jacques Silber (eds.) (2008), The Many Dimensions of Poverty, New York, Palgrave Macmillan.

- Kurczyn, Patricia and Rodrigo Gutiérrez (2009), "Fundamentos legales para la utilización de un enfoque de derechos en la concepción, medición y combate a la pobreza en México", mimeo.
- Mackinnon, John (2006), "Economic and Social Rights: Legally Enforceable Rights?", in Tammie O'Neil (ed.), *Human Rights and Poverty Reduction: Realities, Controversies and Strategies. An ODI Meeting Series*, London, Overseas Development Institute (ODI).
- Martínez, Irma and Pedro Villezca (2003), "La Alimentación en México: un estudio a partir de la Encuesta Nacional de Ingresos y Gastos de los Hogares", *Notas. Revista de información y análisis,* no. 21, pp. 26-37.
- Medina, Fernando (2000), "El consumo fuera del hogar y sus implicaciones en la elección del estrato de referencia: algunas reflexiones prácticas", in *Taller 5: La medición de la pobreza: métodos y aplicaciones*, Programa para el mejoramiento de las encuestas y la medición de las condiciones de vida en América Latina y el Caribe (MECOVI), ECLAC.
- Melgar-Quiñónez, Hugo et al. (2005), "Validación de un instrumento para vigilar la inseguridad alimentaria en la Sierra de Manantlán, Jalisco", Salud Pública de México, vol.47, no.6, pp.413-422.
- Melgar-Quiñónez, Hugo et al. (2007), "Psychometric Properties of a Modified US-Household Food Security Survey Module in Campinas, Brazil", European Journal of Clinical Nutrition Advanced Online Publication, vol. 62, no. 5, pp. 665-673.
- Moncada, Gilberto and Jorge Ortega (2006), "Medición de la inseguridad alimentaria en encuestas de hogares: un método cuantitativo factible de aplicar en América Latina y el Caribe", presented at the *IV Reunión del Grupo de Trabajo G12: Encuestas a Hogares*, ANDESTAD.



- Muñoz de Chávez, Miriam and José Ángel Ledesma (2002), Tablas de Valor Nutritivo de los alimentos, Mexico, McGraw Hill.
- Nayaran, Deepa et al. (2000), Voices of the Poor. Volume I. Can Anyone Hear Us?, New York, Oxford University Press-The World Bank.

Nussbaum, Martha and Amartya Sen (comps.) (1996), The Quality of Life, Mexico, Oxford University Press.

- Parás, Pablo and Rafael Pérez-Escamilla (2004), "El rostro de la pobreza: la inseguridad alimentaria en el Distrito Federal", *Este País*, no.158, pp.45-50.
- Pérez-Escamilla, Rafael *et al.* (2005), "The USDA Food Security Module is a Valid Tool for Assessing Household Food Security in Mexico City. Oral Presentation at the Experimental Biology Meeting", *The Faseb Journal*, (Abstract ,748.4: A 1350)
- Pérez-Escamilla, Rafael et al. (2007) "Escala Latinoamericana y Caribeña de Seguridad Alimentaria (ELCSA)", Perspectivas de Nutrición Humana, available: <u>http://revinut.udea.edu.co/separata/pdf/separata1.pdf</u> (August 8, 2008).
- Pérez-Escamilla, Rafael and Ana Segall-Correa (2008), "Food Insecurity Measurement and Indicators", *Revista de Nutriçao*, vol. 21, suppl., pp.15-26.
- Presidencia de la República (the Presidency of the Republic) and the United Nations (UN) (2006), *Los Objetivos de Desarrollo del Milenio en México: Informe de Avance 2006*, Mexico, Presidencia de la República-UN, available: http://www.objetivosdelmilenio.org.mx/PDF/ODM%202006.pdf (June 18, 2008).
- Rajulton, Fernando, Zenaida Ravanera and Roderic Beaujot (2003), "How cohesive are Canadian CMAs? A Measure of Social Cohesion Using the National Survey of Giving, Volunteering, and Participating", *Population Studies Centre*, University of Western Ontario, London, (Discussion Paper, 03-10).
- Ravallion, Martin (1998), "Poverty Lines in Theory and Practice", *Living Standards Measurement Study*, Washington, D.C., (LSMS Working Paper, 133).
- Rio Group (2006), Compendium of Best Practices in Poverty Measurement, Río de Janeiro.
- Robinson, Mary (2001), Bridging the gap Between Human Rights and Development: from Normative Principles to Operational Relevance, Washington, D.C., United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights.
- Robles, Héctor et al. (2008a), "Pobreza educativa en los hogares: una propuesta normativa para su medición", mimeo.
- Robles, Héctor (coord.) et al. (2008b), Panorama Educativo de México 2008 Indicadores del Sistema Educativo Nacional, Mexico, Instituto Nacional para la Evaluación de la Educación (National Institute for Educational Evaluation - INEE).
- Rosado, Jorge, Esther Casanueva and Héctor Bourges (2005), *Recomendaciones de Ingestión de Nutrimentos para la Población Mexicana. Bases Fisiológicas. Tomo 1*, Mexico, Editorial Médica Panamericana.
- Rubalcava, Rosa (2001), "Marginación, hogares y cohesión social", in Mauricio De Maria y Campos and Georgina Sánchez (eds.), ¿Estamos unidos mexicanos? Los límites de la cohesión social en México, Mexico, Planeta, pp. 257-283.
- Rubalcava, Rosa (2007), "Localidades y hogares: concreción local de la globalización en Guanajuato", in Margarita Estrada and Pascal Labazée, *Globalización y localidad: espacios, actores, movilidades e identidades,* Mexico, Publicaciones de la Casa Chata, pp.451-468.
- Rubalcava, Rosa and Sandra Murillo (2006), "El ingreso de los hogares rurales pobres y los beneficios monetarios de Oportunidades vistos con una perspectiva socioespacial de género: la jefatura económica femenina en Guanajuato", in María de la Paz López and Vania Salles (coords.), *El Programa Oportunidades Examinado desde el Género*, Oportunidades, UNIFEM and El Colegio de México.



Santana, Alicia (2009), "Estudios sobre escalas de equivalencia y economías de escala para México", mimeo.

Shamah, Teresa, Salvador Villalpando and Juan Rivera (2007), *Resultados de Nutrición de la ENSANUT, 2006*, Cuernavaca, Instituto Nacional de Salud Pública (National Public Health Institute - INSP).

Sen, Amartya (1976), "Poverty: An Ordinal Approach to Measurement", Econometrica, vol. 44, no. 2, pp.219-231.

- Sen, Amartya (1980), "Equality of what?", in S. McMurrin (ed.), *The Tanner Lectures on Human Values. Volume I*, Salt Lake City, University of Utah Press.
- Sen, Amartya (1992), Inequality Reexamined, New York, Oxford University Press.
- Sen, Amartya (2000), Social Exclusion: Concept, Application, and Scrutiny, Office of Environment and Social Development-Asian Development Bank, (Social Development Paper, 1), available: <u>http://www.adb.org/Documents/Books/Social Exclusion/Social exclusion.pdf</u> (May 24, 2007).
- Székely, Miguel (coord.) (2005), Números que mueven al mundo: la medición de la pobreza en México, Mexico, Miguel Ángel Porrúa.
- Tello i Robira, Rosa (2003), "Paradojas sobre vivienda", Scripta Nova. Revista electrónica de geografía y ciencias sociales, vol. 7, núm. 146.
- Teruel, Graciela, Luis Rubalcava and Alicia Santana (2005), *Escalas de equivalencia para México*, Mexico, SEDESOL (Research Papers, 23).
- Tomasevski, Katarina (2006), "Economic and Social Rights: Legally Enforceable Rights?" in Tammie O'Neil (ed.), *Human Rights and Poverty Reduction: Realities, Controversies and Strategies. An ODI Meeting Series*, London, Overseas Development Institute (ODI).
- Unidad de Análisis de Políticas Sociales (The Political Science Analysis Unit UDAPSO) and Ministerio de Desarrollo Humano (1995), "Metodología para la Construcción de la Canasta Básica de Alimentos", In *Taller 13: La construcción de líneas de pobreza para América Latina*, Programa para el mejoramiento de las encuestas y la medición de las condiciones de vida en América Latina y el Caribe (MECOVI), ECLAC.

United Nations (UN) (2004), Human Rights and Poverty Reduction. A Conceptual Framework, New York-Geneva, UN.

- United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) (2003a), Informe sobre desarrollo humano. Mexico 2002, Mexico, Mundi-Prensa.
- United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) (2003b), *Poverty Reduction and Human Rights. A practice Note*, UNDP, available: <u>http://www.undp.org/governance/docs/HRPN_(poverty)</u> (July 27, 2007).
- United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF) (2009), *The State of the World's Children*, New York, UNICEF.
- United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) (2004), Human Rights and Poverty Reduction: A Conceptual Framework, New York and Geneva, UN.
- United Nations Organization (UN) (1993), "Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action", presented at the *World Conference* on *Human Rights*, Vienna, UN, available: <u>http://www.unhchr.ch/huridocda/huridoca.nsf/(symbol)/a.conf.157.23.en</u> (July 27, 2007).
- United States Agency for International Development (USAID) (1992), "Definition of Food Security", *ADS Series 200: Programming Policy*, Washington D.C., USAID, (Policy Determination, 19), available: <u>http://www.usaid.gov/policy/ads/200/pd19.pdf</u> (May 24, 2007).
- World Bank (2005), Introduction to Poverty Analysis, The World Bank Institute, available: http://siteresources.worldbank.org/PGLP/Resources/PovertyManual.pdf